

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

SLU Risk Assessment of Plant Pests

SLU.ua.2023.2.6-2272 November 20, 2023

# Options to manage populations of *Globodera pallida* and *G. rostochiensis*

- questions related to crop rotation, resistance of potato and pathotypes

Table of contents		
Background and questions		
Crop rotation as a strategy to reduce potato cyst nematode populations4		
Q1: How many years without growing potato is required to reduce the nematode population levels significantly?		
Q2-4: Plants that can be used to increase the effect of crop rotation		
Nematode pathotypes and resistant potato cultivars		
Q5: What strategy should be used when selecting resistant cultivars in the crop rotation in order to decrease the likelihood of developing resistance-breaking populations?		
Q6: Several sources state that if a potato cultivar is resistant against the <i>G. rostochiensis</i> pathotype Ro1 it is also resistant against pathotype Ro4. Can this be used in the recommendations for selection of potato cultivars in the Swedish control programme?		
Q7: Can it be assumed that a potato cultivar resistant against Ro2 and Ro3 is also resistant to some degree against Ro5, or is specific testing required to decide whether a potato cultivar is resistant against Ro5?		
Q8: According to EPPO PM 9/26 the <i>G. pallida</i> pathotype Pa1 is only found on the British Isles in the EPPO region. Is this still correct?		
Acknowledgement		
Authors		
References		
Appendix 1. Sources of list of resistant potato varieties		

## Background and questions

The potato cyst nematodes *Globodera pallida* [EPPO code: HETDPA] and *Globodera rostochiensis* [EPPO code: HETDRO] are regulated in the EU as union quarantine pests and listed as known to occur in the union territory ((EU) 2019/2072). A new commission implementing regulation sets out the requirements and measures established to eradicate and prevent the spread of *G. pallida* and *G. rostochiensis* in the EU ((EU) 2022/1192). In terms of eradication, specific requirements and measures are imposed on infested production sites depending on their intended use. In the case of infected productions sites used for producing potato tubers *not* intended for planting, the sites shall be subject to an official control programme to prevent further spread of the nematodes ((EU) 2022/1192, Article 8, Point 2). Each Member State can develop their own official control programme but shall, as applicable, take into account a set of elements. One of the listed elements refer to "other agronomic options for pest suppression, as mentioned in point 1 of Annex III to Directive 2009/128/EC", which in turn contains a list of management options such as crop rotation, use of adequate cultivation techniques (e.g. stale seedbed technique and sowing dates) and use, where appropriate, of resistant/tolerant cultivars.

According to the EU regulation, official re-sampling to revoke the requirement of measures can be done after a minimum period of six years counting from the last potato crop (or last detection of the pest). This period may be reduced to three years if effective (and officially approved) measures have been implemented.

In the context of the general management options listed in Directive 2009/128/EC, the following specific questions were raised by the Swedish Board of Agriculture in relation to potato cyst nematodes:

**Q1:** How many years without growing potato is required to reduce the nematode population levels significantly?

Q2: Are there any other crops that can increase the efficiency of the crop rotation?

Q3: Is there any data showing how efficient the option of a trap crop is?

**Q4:** How short should the cultivation cycle for potatoes be, to achieve suppression of the nematode population and to prevent development of vital cysts?

**Q5:** What strategy should be used when selecting resistant cultivars in the crop rotation in order to decrease the likelihood of developing resistance-breaking populations?

**Q6:** Several sources state that if a potato cultivar is resistant against the *G. rostochiensis* pathotype Ro1 it is also resistant against pathotype Ro4. Can this be used in the recommendations for selection of potato cultivars in the Swedish control programme?

**Q7:** Can it be assumed that a potato cultivar resistant against Ro2 and Ro3 is also resistant to some degree against Ro5, or is specific testing required to decide whether a potato cultivar is resistant against Ro5?

**Q8:** According to EPPO PM 9/26 the *G. pallida* pathotype Pa1 is only found on the British Isles in the EPPO region. Is this still correct?

The SLU Risk Assessment of Plant Pests was requested by the Swedish Board of Agriculture to review and analyse the scientific evidence available and provide a summary of the current knowledge in relation to these questions. The report aim to contribute with information relevant for the development of an official control programme of potato cyst nematodes in Sweden.

# Crop rotation as a strategy to reduce potato cyst nematode populations

Crop rotation is frequently used to reduce potato cyst nematode populations. The following key aspects of the life cycle of the potato cyst nematodes are relevant for understanding the influence of crop rotation and crop selection on the potato cyst nematodes:

- Hundreds of eggs can be produced by each female potato cyst nematode. As a consequence, more than a 100-fold increase in the number of nematodes during one season have been recorded (Dandurand and Knudsen 2016) and from low initial populations a 30-40 fold increase is normally the case for *Globodera rostochiensis* (Andersson 2018).
- The hatching of eggs is triggered by host root diffusates, meaning that particular chemical signals are released by plants of the Solanaceae family. As a consequence, the use of resistant host plants in the crop rotation is much more efficient than non-host crops. This is because resistant host plants are not only unsuitable for reproduction but also actively cause mortality by triggering the hatching of eggs that otherwise could have survived for decades awaiting the arrival of a host.
- Soon after hatching, the juvenile locates and enters its host plant. Within the host, the nematodes develop to vermiform males and spherical females. The male nematodes then leave the root whereas the females remain inside the host. The females deposit eggs within their own bodies and when they die their bodies harden and form a protective covering known as a "cyst". The cysts separate from the roots and has the potential to persist in the soil for decades. As a consequence, it may take decades before all potato cysts nematodes are gone from a field if management only depends on a crop rotation which do not include plants from the Solanaceae family (Turner 1996; Holgado et al. 2015).

A review of the current knowledge in relation to the specific questions raised by the Swedish Board of Agriculture will here follow.

# Q1: How many years without growing potato is required to reduce the nematode population levels significantly?

Growing plants that do not belong to the Solanaceae family, will reduce the population levels of potato cyst nematodes. This is because, also without the root diffusate trigger, a certain proportion of the eggs will hatch spontaneously when the soil temperature and moisture content are suitable (Turner and Evans 1988). A common recommendation is to have 6-7 years without potatoes to reach population levels below the damage and detection thresholds (for both *G. rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*) (EPPO 2023a, b).

The rate of decline of potato cyst nematodes recorded when a non-host is grown in a field varies substantially between individual studies. A decline rate of 35% per year is commonly assumed. This figure is based on data from a large number of small-scale studies (Been et al. 2019). A similar decline rate is commonly employed in European statutory schemes (33% per year) (EFSA et al. 2012). These general decline rates do however provide a poor estimate of the decline rate under the climatic conditions occurring in Sweden. A study based on field data from 19 sites distributed across different parts of Sweden showed that the population decline of *G. rostochiensis* was remarkably high the first year after susceptible potatoes were grown (Andersson 1987). It also showed that the rate of decline during the first year differed markedly between regions, i.e. it was in the order of 80-90% in the northern and middle parts of Sweden but approximately 60% in southern Sweden. Further, the population decline was much slower the following years, i.e. the decrease in the second, third and fourth year after susceptible potatoes were grown was 40-60% per year in northern Sweden and 20-30% in southern Sweden (Andersson 1987).

A recent large-scale study in the Netherlands show a similar pattern for *G. pallida* with a much faster decline during the first year after a potato crop than during later years (Been et al. 2019). The study also shows that soil type influences the rate of decrease. In sandy and peaty soils the decline was faster than in marine clay and loamy soils. Further, they found that the decline of *G. pallida* was faster than that of *G. rostochiensis*. However, other studies show the opposite pattern, i.e. that the decline of *G. pallida* was slower than that of *G. rostochiensis* (Sasaki-Crawley (2012) citing other articles).

Based on the values from Sweden, the required crop rotation length for a stable system would be nine years in southern Sweden and four years further north (Andersson 1987). This calculation is based on the assumptions that no other management measures are applied and a 30-fold increase in nematode numbers when a susceptible potato cultivar is planted in soil with very low densities of *G. rostochiensis*, i.e. 1.5-3 eggs per gram soil (which is the level when damage starts occurring). From an applied perspective, it is however important to know that there were also large variations between sites within regions. Thus, it is difficult to predict the decline in an individual field.

#### Q2-4: Plants that can be used to increase the effect of crop rotation

The approach to use crop rotation is appealing for a pest with such a narrow host range as potato cyst nematodes, the only other susceptible host that is cultivated in open field in Sweden is tomato (and that is mainly hobby cultivation) (Andersson 2018). However, classical crop rotation with non-host crops is not as efficient in the management of potato cyst nematodes as it is in many other systems. The reasons for this, as mentioned earlier, are the requirement of root diffusates from solanaceous plants for the triggering of egg hatching (Perry 1989) and that unhatched eggs can persist in the soil for decades (Turner 1996). Consequently, the effect of a crop rotation without other solanaceous plants relies solely on the spontaneous hatching of eggs. The occurrence of weeds such as *Solanum nigrum* (sv. nattskatta) may hamper the impact of such a crop rotation further.

To increase the effect of crop rotation a trap crop may be used, i.e. a crop that releases root diffusates that trigger hatching of the eggs but where the completion of potato cyst nematode life cycle is prevented in one or another way. Growing non-host plants from the Solanaceae family fall within this category as well as cultivation of potato for early harvesting. The following sections aim to answer the following specific questions; (Q2) Are there any other crops that can increase the efficiency of the crop rotation?, (Q3) Is there any data showing how efficient the option of a trap crop is? and (Q4) How short should the cultivation cycle for potatoes be, to achieve suppression of the population and to prevent the development of vital cysts?

#### Using non-host plants from the Solanaceae family

#### Solanum sisymbriifolium

The utilization of *Solanum sisymbriifolium*, also known as sticky nightshade (sv. blek taggborre), as a trap crop has relatively recently emerged as a commercially accessible method to reduce potato cyst nematode populations. In addition to the trap crop effect it appears that eggs exposed to root exudates of *S. sisymbriifolium*, which contains steroidal glycoalkaloids, may reduce the nematodes ability to complete its development on subsequent potato crops (Dandurand et al. 2019; Sivasankara Pillai & Dandurand 2021). An advantage of using *S. sisymbriifolium*, compared to using resistant potato cultivars, is that no species or pathotypes of potato cyst nematodes can reproduce in it (Dandurand & Knudsen 2016; Dias et al. 2017; Dandurand et al. 2019a). In Sweden, few growers know which pathotype, or pathotypes, they have in their fields,<sup>1</sup> which is problematic in terms of using resistant potato cultivars since the level of resistance against different pathotypes generally differs. According to Mhatre et al. (2022), there are currently no registered cultivars possessing complete resistance to both *G. rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*, including all pathotypes. Thus, *S. sisymbriifolium* can be used without knowledge about the virulence of the nematode population present in a field and may be especially valuable if resistant breaking pathotypes are present.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pers. comm., I. Areskoug, Swedish Board of Agriculture

Another advantage of using S. sisymbriifolium instead of early potato as a trap crop is that no tubers are produced and thus no volunteer plants the succeeding year. Further, it can be ploughed down as green manure (Timmermans, 2005; Harper Adams University 2015) and due to that the roots penetrates deeper than fumigants it is efficient at deeper depths (Scholte & Vos 2000; Timmermans et al. 2006). Previous studies of the efficiency of S. sisymbriifolium as a trap crop has found that a reduction of the nematode population of more than 99% can be achieved compared with a control treatment (fallow) (Dandurand et al. 2019a; Chhetri et al. 2023). Cultivation of S. sisymbriifolium as a trap crop is most efficient when done at least two years after a potato crop. In extensive field trials in the Netherlands the population decline varied between 15% and 72% with an average of 52% (the comparable decline for fallow and resistant potato was 23% and 80%, respectively) (Hartsema et al. 2005). They concluded that planting of S. sisymbriifolium should not be done the first year after a potato crop since e.g. the level of triggered hatching due to the level of root diffusates from the potato crop is already high the first year. Further, black fallow is preferable the first year after a potato crop since it is very difficult to remove volunteer potato plant among other crops. Scholte and Vos (2000) found that the effect of planting S. sisymbriifolium the first year after growing potato was less than planting it the second year and they suggested that this may be due to that a proportion of the 1-year-old population may be in diapause. That the effect is limited of planting S. sisymbriifolium the first year after growing potato is also indicated in a study from Portugal (Dias et al. 2017). In addition, it is difficult to manage volunteer potatoes stemming from the previous potato crop in fields grown with S. sisymbriifolium (Hartsema et al. 2005).

A field experiment in northern Poland showed that the climatic conditions in Poland were suitable for growing *S. sisymbriifolium* and that it was an effective trap crop for *G. rostochiensis* (Malinowska et al. 2015). They found that the planting density of *S. sisymbriifolium* had some influence of the effectiveness, where one plant per  $m^2$  caused a population reduction of 61% whereas the maximum population reduction was achieved with 25 plants per  $m^2$ , which reduced the population with 78%.

Importantly, all work that has only assessed the population decline as the number of eggs have underestimated the total effect of planting S. sisymbriifolium. Recent work shows that in addition to triggering egg hatching and thereby decreasing the number of eggs remaining in the soil, S. sisymbriifolium also influences the reproduction capacity of the nematodes. In one greenhouse study no difference in number of eggs after growing S. sisymbriifolium for 16 weeks compared to fallow was found, however, the offspring in the potato crop grown in the succeeding year was only 0.1% of the initial population (Dandurand & Knudsen 2016). Similarly, Dandurand et al. (2019a) not only found a reduction of the number of eggs by 23-50% but also a 99-100% decreased reproduction of G. pallida on the succeeding potato crop compared with the fallow treatment. Finally, in agreement with previous results, Chhetri et al. (2023) found in their study that the reproduction was reduced by up to 99%. The decrease in reproduction the following year may be due to chemical defence compounds, such as steroidal glycoalkaloids, present in S. sisymbriifolium, which has a deleterious effect on reproduction (Sivasankara Pillai & Dandurand 2021). In conclusion, these recent results are a "game changer" and can explain why practical use of S. sisymbriifolium as a trap crop has been deemed effective despite that some experiments have not shown a dramatic reduction in the number of eggs.

Solanum sisymbriifolium is mentioned as a trap crop in EPPO's official suppression measures to be taken to suppress populations of G. pallida and G. rostochiensis in infested fields (EPPO 2018). Further, it is commercially sold both in Europe and in North America as a trap crop for potato cyst nematodes (Sparkes 2013; AHDB 2018). However, the climatic conditions influence whether it can be used in a certain region and early work based on a crop growth model showed that Sweden falls within a zone where there is potential for sufficient growth if S. sisymbriifolium is allowed to grow throughout the entire growing season (Timmermans et al. 2009). However, except in the most southern part of Sweden, the minimum crop biomass was not reached in all four modelled years and the authors therefore state that "...one might conclude too much risk of failure would be associated with the use of S. sisymbriifolium as a control method in Scandinavia". Currently, however, there is also empirical evidence from several countries. Field data from Norway show that successful establishment of S. sisymbriifolium could be achieved in Scandinavian conditions by ensuring proper weed management and selecting the appropriate sowing time (Holgado and Magnusson 2010; 2012, Holgado et al. 2010; 2015). In the Netherlands, it is used at a commercial scale and is an officially recognized control measure (EFSA et al. 2012; Orlando 2022). In Scotland, they are investigating the use of S. sisymbriifolium with promising results, but they found it slow to establish (Orlando 2022). In Idaho, USA, they found that it had worked well as a trap crop but seeds were not always available and the farmers lost a growing season (Orlando 2022). Experience from Quebec, Canada, indicate that the S. sisymbriifolium does not establish well in the cool and wet soils there (Bélair et al. 2016). In conclusion, at least in the most southern part of Sweden the climatic conditions may be suitable for growing S. sisymbriifolium.

There are several studies that has evaluated the susceptibility of S. sisymbriifolium to other pests. It has for example been suggested that S. sisymbriifolium is susceptible to late blight (Phytophthora infestans) (Flier et al. 2003), but a later study showed that the susceptibility is very low (Timmermans 2005). Since oospores are produced on leaves of S. sisymbriifolium they can potentially add to the infection pressure on potato crops cultivated in the subsequent year (Flier et al. 2003; Timmermans 2005). According to a study by Scholte and Vos (2000), S. sisymbriifolium (accessions<sup>2</sup> 89-4750-017 and -018) should be considered to be highly resistant to Meloidogyne chitwoodi and show strong resistance against M. hapla (no galls developed on most of the plants) whereas in a study by Dias et al. (2012) the results indicate that S. sisymbriifolium cultivars Domino, Pion, Sis 4004 and Sharp are resistant to M. chitwoodi but hyper-susceptible to *M. hapla*. Further, an experiment by Perpétuo et al. (2021) showed that S. sisymbriifolium cv. Sis 6001 is resistant to M. chitwoodi. The S. sisymbriifolium accession used in the experiments by Scholte and Vos (2000) appeared to be highly resistant to M. fallax (Scholte and Vos (2000) citing personal communication with J. Hendrickx). Observations by Scholte and Vos (2000) indicate that S. sisymbriifolium is a good host for the Colorado beetle (Leptinotarsa decemlineata). Finally, a study has demonstrated that S. sisymbriifolium exhibits a relatively high degree of resistance to Verticillium dahliae (sv. kransmögel) (Alconero et al. 1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Following FAO (2023) an accession is "A distinct, uniquely identifiable sample of seeds representing a cultivar, breeding line or a population, which is maintained in storage for conservation and use."

*Solanum sisymbriifolium* is also considered as an invasive species in some areas. The plant species originates from South America and is available in the horticultural trade for its aesthetic value and edible fruit (EPPO 2023c). It is on the EPPO alert list of invasive species since it has established in Sardinia (IT) where it is considered a threat to irrigated crops and native wild plant species due to its capacity to compete with other plants. It is also considered to be a danger to livestock and humans due to its sharp spines. When it has established, it often forms dense spiny thickets and outcompete the native vegetation and it is considered a noxious invasive weed in Australia, South Africa, USA, Cuba, Hungary, Italy, Spain, China and Japan (Rojas-Sandoval 2023). *Solanum sisymbriifolium* has become naturalized in 17 states in USA (USDA 2023a) but is not listed as noxious or invasive in any of them (USDA 2023b). However, a weed risk assessment concluded that the plant constitutes a high risk due to its spread capacity and impacts in especially pastureland (USDA 2013). In the Netherlands, the risk that *S. sisymbriifolium* would become a weed was assessed to be small, e.g. since the initial growth in the spring is very slow and thus its competitive strength would be poor (Timmermans 2005).

In Sweden, *Solanum sisymbriifolium* occurs in open habitats such as fields, farms and wasteland but is considered a very rare species (Mossberg & Stenberg 2003). Accordingly, only 65 records from Sweden are available in GBIF (2023) and it has only been found in the southern and middle parts. It was observed in Sweden already in 1927 (Herloff 2011). It is classified as "Ephemeral (including long-persisting relics of cultivation)" in Sweden (Karlsson 1998). Observation by Scholte (2000b) suggest that the plants cannot survive winter frost.

The likelihood of natural spread is decreased by the commercial practice to top *Solanum sisymbriifolium* before berries fully form (a procedure that also have the advantage that it encourages regrowth and thereby the efficiency of the trap crop (Sasaki-Crawley 2012; Dias et al. 2017; Scholte 2000b).

#### Solanum nigrum and S. scabrum

*Solanum nigrum* (sv. nattskatta) is a common weed in Sweden (Andersson 2018). It has however also been suggested as a trap crop for potato cyst nematodes, but it was not as effective as *S. sisymbriifolium* in reducing potato cyst nematode populations in the soil (Scholte 2000c; Scholte & Vos 2000). An unpublished pot experiment showed a decrease in potato cyst nematode eggs with 45-76% where the level of control was influenced by year, soil type and origin of seeds (AHDB 2018). In another unpublished pot experiment in the UK, the reduction of eggs was even higher, between 80-91% (Sparkes 2013). There are 'varieties' of *S. nigrum* that are completely resistant to *G. rostochiensis* and have a high level of resistance to *G. pallida* (Scholte 2000c). However, it should be noted that the nematodes can multiply on some varieties, but it appears to depend on the geographical source of the plant material (Van Riel and Mulder 1998; Sparkes 2013; Fatemy and Ahmarimoghadam 2019). If used as a trap crop it is necessary to prevent them from becoming weeds. However, experiments showed that cutting the crop at flowering time was of limited value for preventing seed production since berries are produced on the plants very close to the soil surface (Scholte 2000b).

*Solanum scabrum* (sv. bärskatta) is considered "Ephemeral (including long-persisting relics of cultivation)" in Sweden (Karlsson 1998). *Solanum scabrum* have been shown to grow well under Dutch conditions and it strongly induced hatching but did not show complete resistance

(Scholte 2000c). In Kenya, potato cyst nematode densities decreased by more than 80% after three successive seasons of cultivations of *S. scabrum* (Chitambo et al. 2019). The potato cyst nematodes were treated as a group but both *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida* were found in the field. The authors recommend the use of *S. scabrum* since it simultaneously controls potato cyst nematodes and root knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.). *Meloidogyne hapla* was reported to occur in the studied field while neither *M. chitwoodi* nor *M. fallax* were detected.

#### Cultivation of potato for early harvesting

Growing potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) for early harvest as a trap crop to reduce the populations of potato cyst nematodes has a very long history and with a vast number of studies conducted reporting results of this approach. The approach is not dependent on the use of resistant cultivars since it simply builds on planting and growing the potato as long as possible, to maximize nematode infection, but harvest before the start of nematode reproduction (Holgado and Magnusson 2010). Here, we only provide an overview of the effectiveness of this approach, and the factors that influence the effectiveness, focusing on Swedish conditions.

Reviewing some earlier studies, Scholte (2000a) state that between 40% to over 90% reductions in populations have been achieved using susceptible potato as a trap crop. Thus, there is no doubt that this approach can be very efficient and consequently it is practised in many countries, e.g in Sweden (Andersson 2018), Finland (Finnish Food Authority (Ruokavirasto) 2022), Norway (Holgado and Magnusson 2010), Belgium (Ebrahimi et al. 2014), and the Netherlands (Orlando 2022). In the Netherlands, they are using a specific variant of early harvesting as an emergency method to control potato cyst nematodes (Orlando 2022; Orlando and Boa 2023). The potato is planted at double the typical density and after 40 days, glyphosate is applied to the canopy. Within 24 to 48 hours, the roots die, effectively halting the growth of nematodes. By using a herbicide some of the e.g. practical challenges with harvesting at an exact date are reduced. It is an official and recognized control option, but it is only used in extreme circumstances since it takes a lot of effort and resources.

The length of time over which the potato is grown has major consequences on its effect. More nematodes will be trapped the longer the potato crop is allowed to grow since that allows a higher percentage of the juveniles to invade the roots. However, when susceptible potatoes are allowed to grow too long the nematode population will increase instead of decrease. A fixed date for harvesting is often used for the strategy of growing potatoes for early harvesting as a trap crop. Since the temperature requirement for potato cyst nematodes vary between different regions, with lower requirements further north (Ebrahimi et al. 2014), different dates for harvesting have been used in different countries. Some examples are;

In Sweden, historically, it was believed that harvesting the potato before Midsummer, which falls between June 20th and June 26th, could effectively control the populations of potato cyst nematodes, even when potatoes were grown annually (Andersson 2018). However, due to earlier and earlier planting practices and the use of plastic sheets during planting, it has been suggested that this assumption is unlikely to hold true (Andersson 2018).

- In Finland, the use of potato as a trap crop is allowed if it is harvested and the plants destroyed at the latest the 7<sup>th</sup> of July<sup>3</sup> according to the Finnish official program for control of potato cyst nematodes (Finnish Food Authority (Ruokavirasto) 2022).
- In Belgium, the corresponding date is 20<sup>th</sup> of June (Ebrahimi et al. (2014) citing another source). However, field data show that this date is too late, since both *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida* formed cysts earlier than that date (Ebrahimi et al. 2014).

Since a fixed harvesting date does not take into account the influence of when the potato crop is planted, another measure is sometimes used, which is days after planting. According to Tiilikkala (1987), harvesting of fields infested with *G. rostochiensis* must occur 70-75 days after planting in the climatic conditions prevailing in Finland. According to Holgado et al. (2015), the corresponding figure is 40 days for Norway and according to Hansen & Jacobsen (1985) the corresponding figure is 85-90 days for Denmark. The population growth of *G. pallida* is a bit faster and it has been suggested that fields infested with this species should be harvested about seven days earlier (Webley & Jones 1981). An example of the effect that can be obtained with a fixed planting date and a fixed growth period is provided by an eight-year long study in UK where potato was planted the 11<sup>th</sup> of March each year and harvested 83 days later (Webley & Jones 1981). In every year except one, which was exceptionally warm, the decline of the nematode population was on average 55%.

Since the temperature varies between years, the decision of when to harvest can be assumed to be considerably improved if the harvest date instead would be based on number of degree-days. Degree-days is the accumulated daily difference between the mean temperature and base temperature. The base temperature being the lowest temperature when development occurs. Based on a study in growth cabinets simulating Nordic conditions it was concluded that good results should be obtained in fields infested with *G. rostochiensis* if early potato is harvested before 400-500 degree-days have accumulated (with 6 °C as the base temperature) since the potato was planted (Magnusson 1986). Note that this study was conducted using only one nematode population of *G. rostochiensis* from Uppsala. Since populations of *G. rostochiensis* or *G. pallida* can differ in the number of degree days required, more accurate values may be obtained by studying additional regional nematode populations. Based on field data, Tiilikkala (1987) suggested that early potato should be harvested in Finland before 700 degree-days (with 4.4 °C as the base temperature). Based on results from field and laboratory experiments, Hansen & Jacobsen (1985) suggested that the corresponding figure for Denmark is 440 degree-days (with 6 °C as the base temperature).

Some disadvantages with using susceptible potato as a trap crop mentioned in the literature are the following:

• It is considered to be a risky strategy due to the unpredictability of the weather, that is, one season may be uncommonly warm or it may be too wet to harvest at the right time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In addition, it is required that a cover crop must be sown in the field no later than two weeks after the entire potato crop in the field in question has been harvested.

(Holgado et al. 2015; AHDB 2018). Further, other factors than temperature influence the development time of the nematodes.

- Tubers that remain in the soil after harvesting, as little as one volunteer potato plant per m<sup>2</sup> the following year can result in an increase of the potato cyst nematode population (Van Riel and Mulder 1998).
- The use of potato as a trap crop has been shown to increase infestations with *Meloidogyne hapla* (however it may decrease stem infections by *Verticillium dahliae* in the succeeding crop, probably due to that potato cyst nematodes stimulate stem infections by *V. dahliae* and the trap crop decrease the population levels of potato cyst nematodes) (Scholte 2000a).
- Consistent early planting of potato appears to select for fast developing nematode populations (Hominick 1982; Magnusson (1986) citing other sources).

#### **Conclusions**

Using a trap crop such as *S. sisymbriifolium* can significantly reduce potato cyst nematode populations, especially when grown at least two years after growing potato. In Sweden, it is likely that a full season would be required to achieve sufficient root development. Experiences from some countries emphasize the challenges of growing it, e.g. due to competition from weeds and climatic constraints. *Solanum sisymbriifolium* has been present in Sweden at least since 1927 without any reported problems. However, it is currently a rare species and before growing it at a large scale, potential risks should be considered, especially since this species is regarded as invasive in some countries. Further, it should be noted that *P. infestans* (which cause late blight of potato) can produce oospores on *S. sisymbriifolium. Solanum nigrum* and *S. scabrum* are alternative trap crops but they have not been investigated to the same extent as *S. sisymbriifolium*.

Using potato for early harvest as a trap crop can effectively reduce potato cyst nematode populations but the cultivation length is essential for the outcome. Due to the annual variability of the weather, it is recommended that timing of harvest is related to the number of degree days obtained during the season. Previous studies in Sweden suggest that harvesting before 400-500 degree days (base 6°C) could be used, but this should be further verified to account for the potential variability of nematode populations across the country.

### Nematode pathotypes and resistant potato cultivars

Several pathotypes have been described for both *G. rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*. Kort et al. (1977) described five different pathotypes in Europe for *G. rostochiensis*, Ro1 - Ro5, and three different pathotypes for *G. pallida*, Pa1 - Pa3. In this pathotype scheme, a set of differential *Solanum* clones were used to differentiate between nematode populations based on their capacity to reproduce on the different clones. A "differential *Solanum* clone" refers to a specific *Solanum* genotype that is used as a standard for comparison in disease resistance testing and research. This scheme has been used to describe the distribution of the different pathotypes in Europe and as a basis for management. However, following its publication, a number of issues related to the pathotype scheme by Kort et al. (1977) were raised. In short, the scheme was not considered to provide adequate results due to reasons related to (i) the differential *Solanum* clones included and the resistance they represent, (ii) the diversity of virulence genes present within the nematode populations tested and (iii) the method used to assess the reproductive rate on the clones (Trudgill 1985; Mugniéry et al. 1989; Nijboer and Parlevliet 1990).

Some of the Solanum clones used in the scheme represent resistance derived from major genes providing qualitative resistance (e.g. H1 and H2) (Mugniéry et al. 1989; Strachan et al. 2019). Qualitative resistance is the result of one or few major genes providing a resistance that is distinct, the plant is either resistant or susceptible (D'Arcy et al. 2001). Thus, individual nematodes either can or cannot multiply on these clones depending on the respective virulence gene they carry. Pathotypes Ro1 or Ro4 cannot reproduce on cultivars with H1 resistance while all other pathotypes of G. rostochiensis can. Similarly, Pa1 is unable to reproduce on cultivars with H2 resistance while Pa2 and Pa3 can. Therefore, if the nematode population being tested is homogenous this will enable a classification into these pathotypes (Ro1/Ro4 or Pa1) or not (Mugniéry et al. 1989). If the nematode population is heterogenous, composed of individuals both with and without the virulence genes breaking the resistance of H1 and H2, the results will not be so clear. Some of the other differential Solanum clones included in the scheme by Kort et al. (1977), displayed resistance due to several resistance sources providing quantitative resistance and partial resistance (Mugniéry et al. 1989). Quantitative resistance is the result of several genes (for example represented by different QTLs<sup>4</sup>), providing a resistance that can not be divided into distinct categories, instead the resistance vary continuously from resistant to susceptible (Pilet-Nayel et al. 2017; D'Arcy et al. 2001). Often only partial resistance is obtained in the plant meaning that e.g. pathogen multiplication or disease are reduced but not totally prevented (Pilet-Nayel et al. 2017). Multiplication of individual nematodes on these clones will be due to a combination of virulence genes they carry which could result in a range of different reproductive rates. This in combination with the fact that many of the nematode populations are heterogeneous with regard to both species and virulence groups complicates the interpretation of the test.

The nematode populations (of both species) often appear to consist of individuals that differ in virulence, i.e., different frequencies of the virulence genes occur in different populations (Trudgill 1985). This means that different proportions of specific virulence will result in certain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A Quantitative Trait Locus (QTL) is a region of the DNA associated with a specific phenotypic trait.

population build up on the differential clones but does not represent a distinct pathotype (Trudgill 1985). The separation of pathotypes based on the differential clones displaying partial resistance was also found to be inconsistent due to the measure used to separate the pathotypes (Trudgill 1985). Kort et al. (1977) used a separation of susceptible and resistant clones based on a reproductive rate (Pf/Pi)<sup>5</sup> as being larger or smaller than one, respectively, without relating it to a non-resistant control. Different environmental factors, such as initial population density of the nematodes and test procedure thus had an impact on the resulting reproductive rate obtained leading to low reproducibility (Trudgill 1985). Such effects are especially observed in hosts being partially resistant or not resistant (Mugniéry et al. 1989). Thus, although there are different pathotypes (virulence) present they cannot be distinguished reliably because of the mixed presence in populations and the polygenic resistance (i.e. resistance provided by several genes) found in some of the *Solanum* differentials. Generally, it is considered that only pathotypes Ro1 (including Ro4) and Pa1 can clearly be separated from other populations of respective species and that the other pathotypes described by Kort et al. (1977) consists of populations with overlapping virulence (EPPO 1985; EPPO 2023b).

Because of these limitations of the pathotype scheme, its use is not recommended (cf. EPPO 2018; EPPO 2022). But no alternative scheme is available describing the procedure to separate pathotypes of potato cyst nematodes reliably. Nevertheless, pathotype testing is still being performed in e.g. Sweden (Rölin 2023). Further, the pathotypes classified according to Kort et al. (1977) are still frequently referred to both in the current legislation ((EU) 2022/1192) as well as in current standards for risk management (EPPO 2018, 2021). For example, resistance testing of new potato cultivars shall include a standard set of nematode populations referring to different pathotypes, i.e., Ro1 - population Ecosse, Ro5 - population Harmerz, Pa1 - population Scottish, Pa3 – population Chavornay<sup>6</sup> (following the EPPO standard PM3/6(2) (EPPO 2021) and (EU) 2022/1192). In addition, there are recommendations that the pathotype of local nematode populations should be described both in relation to tests determining the resistance of new potato cultivars and in relation to risk management strategies, e.g., in order to select potato cultivars with appropriate resistance or to describe new resistance breaking populations (EPPO 2018; (EU) 2022/1192; EPPO 2021).

EPPO standard PM3/6(2) describes the procedure to assess the degree of resistance of potato cultivars to the potato cyst nematodes (EPPO 2021). According to this, a standard set of nematode populations are used (see above), and the degree of resistance is classified according to the relative susceptibility compared to a standard susceptible control cultivar (Pf<sub>test</sub> c<sub>ultivar</sub>/Pf<sub>control cultivar</sub> × 100). The degree of resistance is divided into nine classes designated by a score 1-9. Score 1-3 represent susceptible cultivars with a relative susceptibility ranging from of  $\leq$  25% to > 3% while scores 8-9 represents resistant cultivars with relative susceptibility of  $\leq$  3% (EPPO 2021; Gartner et al. 2021). Following the EU regulation (2022/1192), the highest levels of resistance, i.e., a score of 8-9, where available, should be used as part of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pi = initial nematode population density, Pf = population density at harvest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Referred to as pathotype Pa2/3 by Ruthes and Dahlin (2022).

official control programmes. Information about the assessed level of resistance for different potato cultivars provided by different countries is listed in Appendix 1.

To conclude, the pathotype classification used to describe the virulence of nematode populations is useful for practical applications, but it is important to be aware of the limitations in terms of its capacity to differentiate between 'true' pathotypes.

# Q5: What strategy should be used when selecting resistant cultivars in the crop rotation in order to decrease the likelihood of developing resistance-breaking populations?

#### Development of resistance-breaking potato cyst nematode populations

Intensive use of potato cultivars that carry resistance against certain virulence can lead to selection of *Globodera* species and in altered virulence patterns within single-species populations. Intensive use of cultivars resistant against G. rostochiensis (carrying H1 resistance) has for example led to an increased frequency of G. pallida (which is virulent against such potato cultivars) in for example the UK, Portugal and Switzerland (Minnis et al. 2002; Camacho et al. 2020; Ruthes and Dahlin 2022; Orlando 2022). Furthermore, in Germany and the Netherlands, a new virulence type was discovered in 2014/2015 when populations of G. pallida were found to multiply on potato cultivars carrying resistance against  $Pa2/3^7$  (Niere et al. 2014; Mwangi et al. 2019; Grenier et al. 2020). This population in Germany is referred to as the Oberlangen populations but the pathotype has not been established (Mwangi et al. 2019; EPPO 2021). These virulent populations belong to the European gene pool and appear to have adapted to the resistant potato cultivars used (Grenier et al. 2020). Grenier et al. (2020) also reported preliminary results that suggest that this resistance breaking was due to a single adaptation event. In the region in Germany, where this virulent population was first reported, starch potatoes have been grown every two years (Grenier et al. 2020). There are no known potato cultivars resistant against this new virulence type (Mwangi et al. 2019).

Selection in nematode population due to differential resistance of the potato host has also been studied under laboratory conditions. Fournet et al. (2013) for example studied the durability of resistant potato cultivars in experiments with *G. pallida*. They found that the nematode population could overcome the resistance in one of the tested potato genotypes after eight generations but not in the other three tested genotypes that differed in genetic background. Moreover, the gain in virulence in the nematode population due to selection on a particular potato genotype was not observed in another potato genotype with the same resistance gene markers. Beniers et al. (2019) studied selection in a Pa2/3 population by rearing the nematodes on potato cultivars carrying different resistance genes. They found that after four generations on a cultivar which differed in resistance against Pa2 and Pa3, the relative reproductive rate increased by a factor of 61 on that particular cultivar but was also increased on other cultivars. Further, alternating rearing the nematode population between different potato cultivars had no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pa2/Pa3 is a term that is used to characterize the broad range of virulence in European non-Pa1 populations of *G. pallida* (Bairwa et al. 2022).

effect if the resistance pattern was similar among the cultivars (in their case favouring Pa3), while alternating with a cultivar which did not select for Pa3 could delay selection. They also found that the rate of selection was mainly due to the variation of virulence levels within the nematode populations rather than the level of resistance of the potato cultivar.

Changes in virulence due to cultivation of resistant potato cultivars has also been observed in Sweden. H1 resistant potato cultivars were first introduced in the starch potato districts in southern Sweden in late 1960's (Ireholm 1987). During the 1970's, inventories were carried out in order to evaluate the durability of the resistance and in the late 1979 resistance breaking populations were discovered (Olsson 1981; Ireholm 1987). Studies of the genetic structure of potato cyst nematodes indicates that the Swedish potato cyst nematode populations have a considerable genetic heterogeneity, especially in populations virulent against potato cultivars carrying the H1 gene (Manduric and Andersson 2003). Further, most of the G. rostochiensis populations included in the study that were virulent against potato cultivars with the H1 resistance were from fields where resistant potato cultivars had been cultivated (Manduric and Andersson 2003). In Sweden, mixed populations of the two Globodera species are found in some fields. For example, mixed populations were found in 2.5% of in total 920 populations analysed during an inventory in 1979 (Olsson 1981). A similar proportion of 3% mixed populations were found in the annual monitoring survey performed by the Swedish Board of Agriculture in 2021 (Rölin 2023). In total, G. pallida and G. rostochiensis was found in ca 14% and ca 12% of the samples (incl. the mixed samples), respectively (Rölin 2023).

To summarize, the literature shows that the development of resistant potato cyst nematode populations as a consequence of intensive use of resistant cultivars is not only a theoretical concern but a reality. Further, the large genetic heterogeneity observed within nematode populations and the occurrence of mixed populations of the two *Globodera* species in Sweden stress the importance of adapting management measures to avoid selection of resistant potato cyst nematode populations.

#### Strategies to prevent the development of resistance-breaking potato cyst nematode populations

The use of resistant potato cultivars in combination with crop rotation is an important part of management programmes to control potato cyst nematodes with the purpose to suppress the nematode populations as much as possible. In terms of decreasing the likelihood of resistance breaking of the population, the approach is often not clearly stated. Nevertheless, EPPO (2018) recommend, in order to reduce the likelihood of selecting for new virulent pathotypes, to employ a minimum crop rotation of 3 years combined with efficient control of potato volunteers<sup>8</sup> and solanaceous weeds. Further, they state that since selection pressure may be decreased by extending the rotation to 4 years and alternating between cultivars with resistance against *G. pallida* and *G. rostochiensis*, such measures should be considered (EPPO 2018). Furthermore, ANSES (2016) recommend alternating between potato cultivars with i) different resistant genes (or at least different genetic background) and ii) resistance to both *Globodera* species, to avoid adaptation of the nematode populations and selection for one of the species.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Described in EPPO standard PM 3/089(1) (EPPO 2020)

Another suggested approach is to use resistant and susceptible potato cultivars every second time to avoid breaking resistance (Andersson 1997; 2018). If selection to more virulent nematode populations comes with a fitness cost on susceptible cultivars, as observed e.g., in experiments with *Meloidogyne incognita* infecting tomato (Castagnone-Serena et al., 2006), such an approach could decrease the likelihood of resistance breaking. However, observations from lab-experiments with potato cyst nematodes suggest that the more virulent populations created through selection, have an increased fitness and higher reproduction also on susceptible cultivars (Fournet et al., 2016; Mwangi et al., 2019). It is thus questionable how efficient an approach with alternating between resistant and susceptible potato cultivars is to decrease the likelihood of resistance breaking.

In efforts to breed for durable resistance in potato, it is frequently highlighted that this is more likely to be achieved if resistance sources are combined in the cultivars (Rouppe van der Voort et al. 2000; Jones and Varypatakis 2019; Gartner et al. 2021). Such a strategy may include; i) combining resistance to as many different pathotypes as possible, ii) combining several QTLs providing partial resistance and/or iii) combining major resistance genes with minor resistance QTLs rather than relying on monogenic resistance (Caromel and Gebhardt 2011 and references therein).

To summarize, the following strategies to prevent the development of resistant breaking potato cyst nematode populations can be recommended; i) crop rotation of at least four years (but see Q1), ii) alternating between potato cultivars with different sources of resistance or genetic background, iii) choose potato cultivars with several sources of resistance (e.g. against both *G. rostochiensis* and *G. pallida* and iv) removing all potato volunteers and other solanaceous weeds from the fields during potato free years.

In general, it can also be assumed that using a combination of management measures will decrease the selection pressure for resistant breaking pathotypes. Sampling to enable early detection of resistance breaking populations is also important for the management of such populations.

### Q6: Several sources state that if a potato cultivar is resistant against the *G. rostochiensis* pathotype Ro1 it is also resistant against pathotype Ro4. Can this be used in the recommendations for selection of potato cultivars in the Swedish control programme?

Whether nematode populations classified as pathotype Ro1 and Ro4 can reproduce on a certain potato cultivar depends on the source of resistance in the selected potato cultivar. Potato cultivars with H1 resistance will prevent reproduction of both Ro1 and Ro4 (Kort et al. 1977; Gartner et al. 2021). Due to this equal behaviour on potato cultivars carrying the H1 resistance, Ro1 and Ro4 has been regarded together to represent one pathotype (e.g., EPPO 1985; Mugniéry et al., 1989; Nijboer and Parlevliet 1990). The EPPO standard for resistance testing of new potato cultivars only include a nematode population representing Ro1 and not Ro4 in the panel of standard nematode populations (EPPO 2021). Official resistance tests of potato

cultivars done in Germany at the Julius Kühn Institute has not included tests of Ro4 since 2014 since it does not differ from Ro1 (Bundessortenamt 2022).

Potato cultivars carrying the H1 gene became commercially available in 1966 and H1 resistance is the most frequently used resistance in potato breeding against *G. rostochiensis* (Gartner et al. 2021). In EPPO standard PM9/26(1), a guidance is provided on the selection of resistant cultivars to match different pathotypes (EPPO 2018). Here, it is indicated that potato cultivars with resistance against either Ro1 or Ro4 can be used against both pathotypes as well as populations with mixtures of the pathotypes.

It should be noted that other QTLs have been identified to provide resistance against Ro1, but it is unclear whether they would also provide resistance against Ro4 (Caromel and Gebhardt, 2011; Gartner et al. 2021). It is also not known to what extent this resistance is included in commercial cultivars today and whether this is done without also including H1 resistance. A search in the European cultivated potato database (containing 138 cultivars assessed against both pathotypes) resulted in only one potato cultivar (Atrela) that showed different resistance level as assessed by the same institute, i.e., very low to low resistance against Ro1 but with high to very high resistance against Ro4 (ECPD, 2023). Differences in assessed resistance between Ro1 and Ro4 obtained by different institutes were found for in total four potato cultivars. The reasons for these differences are however unclear.

In conclusion, since H1 resistance appear to be included in all currently used resistant potato cultivars against Ro1, it can be assumed that these are also resistant against Ro4.

# Q7: Can it be assumed that a potato cultivar resistant against Ro2 and Ro3 is also resistant to some degree against Ro5, or is specific testing required to decide whether a potato cultivar is resistant against Ro5?

In 1984 it was concluded at an EPPO Workshop on Cyst Nematodes, that Ro2, Ro3 and Ro5 are not distinct pathotypes but instead represent a continuum of virulence (EPPO 1985). However, Nijboer and Parlevliet (1990) argue that three pathotypes of *G. rostochiensis* could be reliably recognized, i.e., Ro1/4, Ro2/3 and Ro5.

In EPPO standard PM9/26(1) a guidance is provided on selection of resistant cultivars to match different pathotypes (EPPO 2018). Here it is indicated that it cannot be assumed that potato cultivars resistant against Ro2 or Ro3 also would be resistant against Ro5. Instead, if it is known that the pathotype present is Ro5 the required resistance of the potato cultivar should be specific to Ro5 according to the guidance. Likewise, a nematode population consisting of a mix of pathotypes Ro2/3/5 would require resistance against Ro5 in addition to resistance against Ro3 (incl. Ro2) or Ro2/3. It should be noted, that in the EPPO standard describing the testing of potato resistance (PM3/68(2)), the standard populations that should be used in resistance tests of new potato cultivars represents pathotypes Ro1, Ro5, Pa1 and Pa3 and that none is included yet to represent Ro2/Ro3 (EPPO 2021).

In the official resistance tests of potato cultivars done at the Julius Kühn Institute, it can be observed that both Ro2/Ro3 and Ro5 are included in the resistance tests and further that similar level of resistance is found in cultivars assessed against both Ro2/Ro3 and Ro5, but that some exceptions are found (scores 8 vs 6 for two cultivars) (Bundessortenamt 2022).

In conclusion, the literature studied do not support the assumption that potato cultivars resistant against Ro2/Ro3 automatically would be resistant against Ro5.

# Q8: According to EPPO PM 9/26 the *G. pallida* pathotype Pa1 is only found on the British Isles in the EPPO region. Is this still correct?

The *G. pallida* pathotype Pa1 is known to occur in the UK and Ireland (EPPO 2018: Dandurand et al. 2019b). Nematode populations classified as Pa1 have also been reported from Tenerife, Spain (Gonzales et al. 1996; Bello et al. 2005). Øydvin (1978) state that Pa1 may occur in Norway. Further, several more recent publications also state that Pa1 occur in Norway (Magnusson and Hammaeraas 1994; Holgado and Magnusson 2010; 2014). The presence of Pa1 has been confirmed by C. Magnusson, NIBIO (pers. comm., 2023). No other reports of the presence of Pa1 in any country within Europe was found. It should however be noted that pathotype testing appear to be rarely performed in recent years. Outside of the EPPO region, Pa1 is also found in India (Bairwa et al. 2021).

The concept of pathotypes is however complex, as previously described, and the virulence types described by Kort et al. (1977) are only a small subset of those present in South American populations (Saenz and de Scurrah 1977; EFSA et al. 2012). Further, as described previously there are nematode populations with a new virulence type in Germany and the Netherlands (Niere et al. 2014; Mwangi et al. 2019; Grenier et al. 2020).

In conclusion, apart from the occurrence of Pa1 in the British Isles, the pathotype has been found in Norway and in Spain (Tenerife).

## Acknowledgement

We would like to thank Maria Viketoft, Björn Andersson and Anna Berlin, all at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, for reviewing the report. Thanks also to Christer Magnusson at NIBIO and José A. González Pérez at IRNAS-CSIC for answering questions related to the presence of pathotype Pa1 in Norway and Spain, respectively.

## Authors

This report was prepared by SLU Risk Assessment of Plant Pests at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences:

Johanna Boberg, Dept. of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, PO Box 7026, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. Visiting address: Almas allé 5, E-mail: Johanna.Boberg@slu.se

Niklas Björklund, Dept. of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, P.O. Box 7044, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. Visiting address: Ullsväg 16, E-mail: Niklas.Bjorklund@slu.se

#### **Recommended citation:**

Boberg, J. & Björklund, N. (2023) Options to manage populations of *Globodera pallida* and *G. rostochiensis* - questions related to crop rotation, resistance of potato and pathotypes. Technical report SLU.ua.2023.2.6-2272. SLU Risk Assessment of Plant Pests, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Uppsala. Available from <u>www.slu.se/risk-assessment</u>

## References

AHDB (2018) Agricultural and Horticultural Development Board (AHDB), PCN grower guide. Stoneleigh Park: Potato Council. Available from: <u>https://potatoes.ahdb.org.uk/knowledge-library/pcn-grower-guide</u> [Accessed 2023-05-29]

Alconero, R., Robinson, R. W., Dicklow, B., & Shail, J. (1988). Verticillium wilt resistance in eggplant, related *Solanum* species, and interspecific hybrids. HortScience, 23(2), 388-390. LINK

Andersson, S. (1983) Inventering av potatiscystnematoden. Växtskyddsrapporter. Jordbruks 22, 145-156.

Andersson, S. (1987). Den gula potatiscystnematodens (*Globodera rostochiensis*) populationsminskning vid odling av icke-värdväxt och nematodresistent potatis några preliminära resultat. [The decline of the yellow potato cyst nematode *Globodera rostochiensis* under non-host crops and under resistant potato cultivars some preliminary results.]. Växtskyddsnotiser 5-6, 145, 150. <u>LINK</u> Anderson, S. (1997) Potatiscystnematoderna. Faktablad om växtskydd – Jordbruk, 79J. Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet.

Andersson, S. (2018). Nematoder som växtskadegörare. 6.5.2. Potatiscystnematoderna, *Globodera rostochiensis* och *G. pallida*. Atremi. ISBN: 978-91-7527-214-6 LINK

ANSES (2016) Utilisation de variétés résistantes de pommes de terre dans des champs contaminés par des nématodes à kyste (*Globodera* spp.). Rapport d'expertise collective. Avis de l'Anses, Saisine No 2015-SA-0242. LINK

Bairwa, A., Venkatasalam, E.P., Priyank, H.M., Sharma, S. (2021). Introduction of Potato Cyst Nematodes, Life Cycle and Their Management Through Biobased Amendments. In: M. Kaushal & R. Prasad (Eds.) Mircobial Biotechnology in Crop Protection. Springer Nature Singapore, Singapore LINK

Bairwa, A., Venkatasalam, E. P., Mhatre, P. H., Bhatnagar, A., Sharma, A. K., Dalamu, ... & Sharma, S. (2022). Biology and Management of Nematodes in Potato. In *Sustainable Management of Potato Pests and Diseases* (pp. 281-307). Singapore: Springer Singapore. LINK

Been, T., Schomaker, C. & Molendijk, L. (2019). Natural decline of potato cyst nematodes in the Netherlands. Aspects of Applied Biology, 142, 55-58. LINK

Bélair, G., Dauphinais, N., & Mimee, B. (2016). Evaluation of cultural methods for the management of the golden nematode (*Globodera rostochiensis*) in Quebec, Canada. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology, 38(2), 209-217. LINK

Bello, A., Robertson, L., Díez-Rojo, M. A., & Arias, M. (2005). A re-evaluation of the geographic distribution of quarantine nematodes reported in Spain. Nematologia mediterranea 33, 209-216. LINK

Beniers, J. E., Nöllen, Y., van Eck, H. J., & Schouten, H. J. (2019). Increased virulence of *Globodera pallida* during repeated rearing on different resistant potato cultivars explained by a simple model. Plant Pathology, 68(3), 445-453. LINK

Bundessortenamt (Federal Plant Variety Office) (2022) Beschreibende Sortenliste Kartoffel 2022 [Descriptive List of Potato Varieties 2022]. Germany. Available from <u>https://www.bundessortenamt.de/bsa/media/Files/BSL/bsl\_kartoffel\_2022.pdf</u> [Accessed 2023-04-25]

Camacho, M. J., De Andrade, E., Mota, M., Nobrega, F., Vicente, C., Rusinque, L., & Inácio, M. L. (2020). Potato cyst nematodes: Geographical distribution, phylogenetic relationships and integrated pest management outcomes in Portugal. Frontiers in Plant Science, 11, 606178. LINK

Caromel, B., Gebhardt, C. (2011). Breeding for Nematode Resistance: Use of Genomic Information. In: Jones, J., Gheysen, G., Fenoll, C. (eds) Genomics and Molecular Genetics of Plant-Nematode Interactions. Springer, Dordrecht. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0434-</u> 3 22

Castagnone-Sereno, P., Bongiovanni, M. & Wajnberg, E. (2007) Selection and parasite evolution: a reproductive fitness cost associated with virulence in the parthenogenetic nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. Evol Ecol 21, 259–270. LINK

Chitambo, O., Haukeland, S., Fiaboe, K. K., & Grundler, F. M. (2019). African nightshade and African spinach decrease root-knot nematode and potato cyst nematode soil infestation in Kenya. Plant disease, 103(7), 1621-1630. LINK

Chhetri, P., Dandurand, L. M., & Popova, I. (2022). Control of *Globodera pallida* using *Sinapis alba* or 4-hydroxy benzyl alcohol with the trap crop *Solanum sisymbriifolium* or the biofumigant *Brassica juncea* seed meal extract. Plant Disease, (ja). LINK

Dandurand, L. M., & Knudsen, G. R. (2016). Effect of the trap crop *Solanum sisymbriifolium* and two biocontrol fungi on reproduction of the potato cyst nematode, *Globodera pallida*. Annals of Applied Biology, 169(2), 180-189. LINK

Dandurand, L. M., Zasada, I. A., & LaMondia, J. A. (2019a). Effect of the trap crop, *Solanum sisymbriifolium*, on *Globodera pallida*, *Globodera tabacum*, and *Globodera ellingtonae*. Journal of Nematology, 51. LINK

Dandurand, L. M., Zasada, I. A., Wang, X., Mimee, B., De Jong, W., Novy, R., ... & Kuhl, J. C. (2019b). Current status of potato cyst nematodes in North America. Annual review of phytopathology, 57, 117-133. LINK

D'Arcy, C. J., D. M. Eastburn, and G. L. Schumann (2001). Illustrated Glossary of Plant Pathology. The Plant Health Instructor. DOI: 10.1094/PHI-I-2001-0219-01. LINK

Dias, M. C., Conceição, I. L., Abrantes, I., & Cunha, M. J. (2012). *Solanum sisymbriifolium* - a new approach for the management of plant-parasitic nematodes. European Journal of Plant Pathology, 133, 171-179. <u>LINK</u>

Dias, M. C., Perpétuo, L. S., Cabral, A. T., Guilherme, R., da Cunha, M. J., Melo, F., ... & Conceição, I. L. (2017). Effects of *Solanum sisymbriifolium* on potato cyst nematode populations in Portugal. Plant and Soil, 421, 439-452. LINK

Directive 2009/128/EC. Directive 2009/128/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for Community action to achieve the sustainable use of pesticides (Text with EEA relevance). ELI: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/128/oj</u>

Ebrahimi, N., Viaene, N., Demeulemeester, K., & Moens, M. (2014). Observations on the life cycle of potato cyst nematodes, *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*, on early potato cultivars. *Nematology*, *16*(8), 937-952. LINK

ECPD (2023) The European cultivated potato database. European Cooperative Programme for Plant Genetic Resources (ECPGR). Avialble from <u>https://www.europotato.org/</u> [Accessed 2023-04-24]

EFSA Panel on Plant Health (PLH) (2012) Scientific Opinion on the risks to plant health posed by European versus non-European populations of the potato cyst nematodes *Globodera pallida* and *Globodera rostochiensis*. EFSA Journal 2012;10(4):2644. [71 pp.] doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2644. Available at: https://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2644

EPPO (1985) Conclusions of the EPPO Workshop on Cyst Nematodes Munster (FRG), 26-28 June, 1984. EPPO Bulletin 15, 121-122. <u>LINK</u>

EPPO (2018) PM 9/26 (1) National regulatory control system for *Globodera pallida* and *Globodera rostochiensis*. National regulatory control systems. EPPO Bulletin 48(3), 516-532. LINK

EPPO (2020) PM 3/089 (1) Control of volunteer potato plants. EPPO Bulletin 50(3), 372-382. LINK

EPPO (2021) PM 3/68 (2) Testing of potato varieties to assess resistance to *Globodera rostochiensis* and *Globodera pallida*. EPPO Standard PM3/68(2). EPPO Bull, 51: 404-405. LINK

EPPO (2022) PM 7/40 (5) *Globodera rostochiensis* and *Globodera pallida*. EPPO Standard on diagnostics. EPPO Bull, 52: 286-313. LINK

EPPO (2023a) *Globodera pallida*. EPPO datasheets on pests recommended for regulation. EPPO Global database (<u>https://gd.eppo.int</u>). <u>https://gd.eppo.int/taxon/HETDPA/datasheet</u> [Accessed 2023-04-17].

EPPO (2023b) *Globodera rostochiensis*. EPPO datasheets on pests recommended for regulation. EPPO Global database (https://gd.eppo.int). https://gd.eppo.int/taxon/HETDRO/datasheet [Accessed 2023-05-15]

EPPO (2023c) European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization (EPPO), EPPO Alert List – *Solanum sisymbriifolium* (Solanaceae). Available from <u>https://www.eppo.int/ACTIVITIES/plant\_quarantine/alert\_list\_plants/solanum\_sisymbriifolium</u> [Accessed 2023-05-16]

(EU) 2019/2072. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2019/2072 of 28 November 2019 establishing uniform conditions for the implementation of Regulation (EU) 2016/2031 of the European Parliament and the Council, as regards protective measures against pests of plants, and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 690/2008 and amending Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2018/2019. ELI: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg\_impl/2019/2072/oj</u>

(EU) 2022/1192. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2022/1192 of 11 July 2022 establishing measures to eradicate and prevent the spread of *Globodera pallida* (Stone) Behrens and *Globodera rostochiensis* (Wollenweber) Behrens. ELI: http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg\_impl/2022/1192/oj

FAO (2023) Glossary - WIEWS - World Information and Early Warning System on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. Available at: <u>https://www.fao.org/wiews/glossary/en/</u>. [Accessed 2023-11-20].

Fatemy, S., & Ahmarimoghadam, P. (2019). The role of some agricultural crops and weeds on decline of potato cyst nematode *Globodera rostochiensis* and their possible use as trap crops. Journal of Crop Protection, 8(2), 191-200. LINK

Finnish Food Authority (Ruokavirasto) (2022) Officiellt program för bekämpning av potatiscystnematoden [Official program for control of the potato cyst nematodes]. 6195/04.00.20.10/2022. Available at: https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/viljelijat/kasvintuotanto/kasvinterveys/kasvintuhoojat/ peruna-ankeroisen torjuntaohjelma se.pdf

Flier, W. G., Van den Bosch, G. B. M., & Turkensteen, L. J. (2003). Epidemiological importance of *Solanum sisymbriifolium*, *S. nigrum* and *S. dulcamara* as alternative hosts for *Phytophthora infestans*. Plant Pathology, 52(5), 595-603. LINK

Fournet, S., Eoche-Bosy, D., Renault, L., Hamelin, F. M., & Montarry, J. (2016). Adaptation to resistant hosts increases fitness on susceptible hosts in the plant parasitic nematode *Globodera pallida*. Ecology and evolution, 6(8), 2559-2568. LINK

Fournet, S., Kerlan, M. C., Renault, L., Dantec, J. P., Rouaux, C., & Montarry, J. (2013). Selection of nematodes by resistant plants has implications for local adaptation and cross-virulence. Plant pathology, 62(1), 184-193. LINK

Gartner, U., Hein, I., Brown, L. H., Chen, X., Mantelin, S., Sharma, S. K., ... & Blok, V. C. (2021). Resisting potato cyst nematodes with resistance. Frontiers in Plant Science, 12, 661194. LINK

GBIF (2023) Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF), https://www.gbif.org/occurrence/search?offset=20&country=SE&taxon\_key=2932184 [Accessed 2023-05-16]

Gonzalez, J. A., Phillips, M. S., & Trudgill, D. L. (1996). Virulence of Canarian populations of potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera* spp.). Nematologica, 42(2), 198-210. <u>LINK</u>

Grenier, E., Kiewnick, S., Smant, G., Fournet, S., Montarry, J., Holterman, M., Helder, J., and Goverse, A. (2020) Monitoring and tackling genetic selection in the potato cyst nematode *Globodera pallida*. EFSA supporting publication 2020:EN-1874. 25 pp. doi:10.2903/sp.efsa.2020.EN-1874

Hansen, L. M. and Jakobsen, J. (1985). The influence of temperature on multiplication of the potato-cyst nematode (*Globodera rostochiensis*). Tidsskrift for Planteavl 89: 197-203. Available from LINK

Harper Adams University (2015) Using plants to control potato cyst nematodes, Technical Note 018. LINK

Hartsema O, van der Mheen H, van den Berg W, van Gastel W, Molendijk L and Hoek H, (2005). Raketblad (*Solanum sisymbriifolium*) Teeltaspecten en sanerende werking op aardappelcysteaaltjes (*Globodera* sp.) 2001–2004. Praktijkonderzoek Plant & Omgeving, Wagenigen, the Netherlands. in Dutch. Available from https://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/fulltext/39805 [Accessed 2023-05-15]

Herloff, B. (2011). Additions to the flora of Västergötland, SW Sweden. Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift, 105(1), 31-47. LINK

Holgado, R. & Magnusson, C. (2010) Management of PCN (*Globodera* spp.) populations under Norwegian conditions. Aspects of Applied Biology 103, 85-92. <u>LINK</u>

Holgado R, Niere B, Forbord JO, Vagle A, Magnusson C. 2010. Resultater fra pilotprosjekt om potetcystenematoder. Bioforsk-konferansen 2010. Bioforsk FOKUS 5(2): 148-149. Available from LINK (accessed 2023-05-15)

Holgado, R., & Magnusson, C. (2012). Nematodes as a limiting factor in potato production in Scandinavia. Potato research, 55(3-4), 269-278. LINK

Holdago, R. & Magnusson, C. (2014) Bekjempelse av potetcystenematoder (PCN) over 50 år i Norge. In: Bioforsk-konferansen 2014. Bioforsk FOKUS, vol. 9, Nr. 2, s. 94

Holgado, R., Magnusson, C., Hammeraas, B., Rasmussen, I., Strandenæs, K. A., Heuer, H., & Knudsen, R. (2015). Occurrence, survival and management options for potato cyst nematodes in Norway. Aspects of Applied Biology, (130), 57-63. LINK

Hominick, W. M. (1982). Selection of a rapidly maturing population of *Globodera rostochiensis* by continuous cultivation of early potatoes in Ayrshire, Scotland. Annals of applied Biology, 100(2), 345-351. <u>LINK</u>

Ireholm, A. (1987) Patotypinventering av potatiscystnematoden (*Globodera rostochiensis* och *G. pallida*) 1980-82. Växtskyddsnotiser 51, 151-154

Jones, J. & Varypatakis, K. (2019) Durability of resistance against *Globodera pallida*. Summary report 2019/8, Ref: 11120019. AHDB potatoes. Available at: <u>https://potatoes.ahdb.org.uk/11120019-durability-of-pcn-resistance</u>

Karlsson, T. (1998). Förteckning över svenska kärlväxter. [The vascular plants of Sweden – a checklist.] Svensk Bot. Tidskr. 91: 241-560. Lund. ISSN 0039-545X.

Karlsson, T. (2002). Nyheter i den svenska kärlväxtfloran III. Fjällgröneväxter – korgblommiga. [Additions and corrections to the checklist of Swedish vascular plants III. Diapensiaceae – Asteraceae.] Svensk Bot. Tidskr. 96: 234–255. Uppsala. ISSN 0039-646X.

Kort, J., Ross, H., Rumpenhorst, H. J. and Stone, A. R. (1977) International scheme for identifying and classifying pathotypes of potato cyst-nematodes *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*. Nematologica. 23 (3), pp. 333-339. LINK

Magnusson, M. L. (1986). Development of *Globodera rostochiensis* under simulated Nordic conditions. Nematologica, 32(4), 438-446. <u>LINK</u>

Magnusson, C. & Hammraas, B. (1994) Potetcystenematodenes (PCN) biologi, smitteveier og bekjempelse. In: Informasjonsmøte i jord- og plantekultur, Midt-Norge 1994, FAGINFO, NLH-Fagtjenesten, Nr.4, 1994, 112-127.

Malinowska, E., Tyburski, J., Rychcik, B. and Szymczak-Nowak, J. (2005) The influence of *Solanum sisymbriifolium* on potato cyst nematode population reduction. In: Haverkort, A.J. and Struik, P.C (eds) Potato in Progress: Science Meets Practice. Wageningen Academic Press, Wageningen, The Netherlands, pp. 239–241. DOI: 10.3920/978-90-8686-562-8 LINK

Manduric, S., & Andersson, S. (2003). Potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*) from Swedish potato cultivation-an AFLP study of their genetic diversity and relationships to other European populations. Nematology, 5(6), 851-858. LINK

Mhatre, P. H., Divya, K. L., Venkatasalam, E. P., Watpade, S., Bairwa, A., & Patil, J. (2022). Management of potato cyst nematodes with special focus on biological control and trap cropping strategies. Pest Management Science, 78(9), 3746-3759. <u>LINK</u>

Minnis, S. T., Haydock, P. P. J., Ibrahim, S. K., Grove, I. G., Evans, K., & Russell, M. D. (2002). Potato cyst nematodes in England and Wales-occurrence and distribution. Annals of Applied Biology, 140(2), 187-195. <u>LINK</u>

Mossberg, B. & Stenberg, L. (2003). Den nya nordiska floran. Wahlström & Widstrand.

Mugniéry, D., Phillips, M. S., Rumpenhorst, H. J., Stone, A. R., Treur, A., & Trudgill, D. L. (1989). Assessment of partial resistance of potato to, and pathotype and virulence differences in, potato cyst nematodes. EPPO bulletin, 19(1), 7-25. LINK

Mwangi, J. M., Niere, B., Finckh, M. R., Krüssel, S., & Kiewnick, S. (2019). Reproduction and life history traits of a resistance breaking *Globodera pallida* population. Journal of Nematology e2019-79, Vol. 51. DOI: 10.21307/jofnem-2019-079

Niere, B., Krüssel, S., Osmers, K., (2014) Auftreten einer außergewöhnlich virulenten Population der Kartoffelzystennematoden. In Journal für Kulturpflanzen 66(12), 426-427 LINK

Nijboer, H., & Parlevliet, J. E. (1990). Pathotype-specificity in potato cyst nematodes, a reconsideration. *Euphytica*, *49*, 39-47. LINK

Olsson, E. (1981) Användning av nematodresistenta potatissorter med hänsyn till patotypsituationen i södra Sverige. Nordisk Jordbruksforskning 63, 559-560.

Orlando, V. (2022) Potato Cyst Nematodes – a persistent and fearsome foe. British Society for Plant Pathology, November 2022, Plant pandemic study 6, Editor E. Boa. <u>LINK</u> [Accessed 2023-05-15]

Orlando, V., & Boa, E. (2023). Potato cyst nematodes: A persistent and fearsome foe. *Plant Pathology* 72, 1541-1556. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13779

Øydvin J. 1978. Studies on Potato cyst-nematodes *Globodera* spp. (Skarbilovich), and the use of plant resistance against *G. rostochiensis* (Woll.) in Norway. Växtskyddsrapporter, Avhandlingar 2:1–37, SLU, Uppsala

Perpétuo, L. S., da Cunha, M. J., Batista, M. T., & Conceição, I. L. (2021). *Solanum linnaeanum* and *Solanum sisymbriifolium* as a sustainable strategy for the management of *Meloidogyne chitwoodi*. Scientific reports, *11*(1), 3484. LINK

Perry, R. N. (1989). Dormancy and hatching of nematode eggs. Parasitology today, 5(12), 377-383.

Pilet-Nayel M-L, Moury B, Caffier V, Montarry J, Kerlan M-C, Fournet S, Durel C-E and Delourme R (2017) Quantitative resistance to plant pathogens in pyramiding strategies for durable crop protection. Front. Plant Sci. 8:1838. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.01838 LINK

Rojas-Sandoval, J. (2023). *Solanum sisymbriifolium* (sticky nightshade). In: CABI Compendium. Wallingford, UK: CAB International. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1079/cabicompendium.117241 [Accessed 2023-09-26]

Rölin, Å. (2023) Fler fynd av potatiscystnematod. Viola potatis, Affärstidningen för potatisbranschen, nr 2 2023 <u>https://www.viola.se/viola-potatis/</u>

Rouppe Van der Voort, J. N. A. M., Van der Vossen, E., Bakker, E., Overmars, H., Van Zandvoort, P., Hutten, R., ... & Bakker, J. (2000). Two additive QTLs conferring broad-spectrum resistance in potato to *Globodera pallida* are localized on resistance gene clusters. Theoretical and applied genetics, 101, 1122-1130. LINK

Ruthes, A.C. and Dahlin, P. (2022) The impact of management strategies on the development and status of potato cyst nematode populations in Switzerland: An overview from 1958 to present. Plant Disease 2022 106:4, 1096-1104. LINK

Saenz, M. C., & De Scurrah, M. M. (1977). Races of the potato cyst nematode in the Andean region and a new system of classification. Nematologica, 23(3), 340-349. LINK

Sasaki-Crawley, A. (2012) Signalling and behaviour of *Globodera pallida* in the rhizosphere of the trap crop *Solanum sisymbriifolium*. PhD thesis. University of Plymouth, Plymouth, UK. LINK

Scholte, K. (2000a). Effect of potato used as a trap crop on potato cyst nematodes and other soil pathogens and on the growth of a subsequent main potato crop. Annals of Applied Biology, 136(3), 229-238. LINK

Scholte, K. (2000b). Growth and development of plants with potential for use as trap crops for potato cyst nematodes and their effects on the numbers of juveniles in cysts. Annals of Applied Biology, 137(1), 31-42. LINK

Scholte, K. (2000c). Screening of non-tuber bearing Solanaceae for resistance to and induction of juvenile hatch of potato cyst nematodes and their potential for trap cropping. Annals of Applied Biology, 136(3), 239-246. LINK

Scholte, K., & Vos, J. (2000). Effects of potential trap crops and planting date on soil infestation with potato cyst nematodes and root-knot nematodes. Annals of Applied Biology, 137(2), 153-164. LINK

Sivasankara Pillai, S., & Dandurand, L. M. (2021). Effect of steroidal glycoalkaloids on hatch and reproduction of the potato cyst nematode *Globodera pallida*. Plant Disease, 105(10), 2975-2980. <u>LINK</u>

Sparkes, J. (2013). Potential trap crops for the control of potato cyst nematodes (PCN). Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board, 1, 1-19. LINK

Strachan, S. M., Armstrong, M. R., Kaur, A., Wright, K. M., Lim, T. Y., Baker, K., ... & Hein, I. (2019). Mapping the H2 resistance effective against *Globodera pallida* pathotype Pa1 in tetraploid potato. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 132, 1283-1294. LINK

Tiilikkala, K. (1987). Life cycle of the potato cyst nematode in Finland. In *Annales Agriculturae Fenniae* (Vol. 26, pp. 171-179). LINK

Timmermans, B. G. H. (2005). *Solanum sisymbriifolium* (Lam.): A trap crop for potato cyst nematodes. PhD Thesis, Wageningen University, the C.T. de Wit Graduate School for Production Ecology and Resource Conservation (PE&RC), Wageningen, The Netherlands. ISBN: 90-8504-325-5 LINK

Timmermans, B. G. H., Vos, J., Stomph, T. J., Van Nieuwburg, J., & Van der Putten, P. E. L. (2006). Growth duration and root length density of *Solanum sisymbriifolium* (Lam.) as determinants of hatching of *Globodera pallida* (Stone). Annals of Applied Biology, 148(3), 213-222. LINK

Timmermans, B. G. H., Vos, J., & Stomph, T. J. (2009). The development, validation and application of a crop growth model to assess the potential of *Solanum sisymbriifolium* as a trap crop for potato cyst nematodes in Europe. Field crops research, 111(1-2), 22-31. LINK

Trudgill, D.L. (1985) Potato cyst nematodes: a critical review of the current pathotyping scheme. EPPO Bulletin 15, 273-279. LINK

Turner, S. J. (1996). Population decline of potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera rostochiensis*, *G. pallida*) in field soils in Northern Ireland. Annals of Applied Biology, 129(2), 315-322. LINK

Turner, S. & Evans, E. (1998). The origins, global distribution and biology of potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera rostochiensis* (Woll.) and *Globodera pallida* Stone). In: Marks, R.J. & Brodie, B.B. (Eds). Potato cyst nematodes: biology, distribution and control. Wallingford, UK, CABI Publishing, pp. 7-26.

USDA (2013) APHIS, Noxious Weeds Program Risk Assessments https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/ourfocus/planthealth/plant-pest-and-disease-programs/pestsand-diseases/SA\_Weeds/SA\_Noxious\_Weeds\_Program/CT\_Riskassessments [Accessed 2023-05-13]

USDA (2023a). Natural Resources Conservation Service. Plant Profile, *Solanum sisymbriifolium* Lam. sticky nightshade <u>https://plants.usda.gov/home/plantProfile?symbol=SOSI</u> [Accessed 2023-05-13]

USDA (2023b) Natural Resources Conservation Service. PLANTS database, invasive & noxious status, *Solanum sisymbriifolium* Lam. sticky nightshade <u>https://plants.usda.gov/home/noxiousInvasiveSearch</u> [Accessed 2023-05-13]

Van Riel, H. R., & Mulder, A. (1998). Potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera* species) in western Europe. In Potato cyst nematodes: Biology, distribution and control, eds R.J. Marks and B. B. Brodie. Wallingford: CAB International, 271-298.

Varandas, R., Egas, C., & Conceição, I. L. (2020). Potato cyst nematodes: New solutions to an old problem. Crop protection, 137, 105303. LINK

Webley, D. P., & Jones, F. G. W. (1981). Observations on *Globodera pallida* and *G. rostochiensis* on early potatoes. Plant Pathology, 30(4), 217-224. LINK

# Appendix 1. Sources of list of resistant potato varieties

Country/region	Reference and link	Pathotype specific information
Belgium	PhytoDis and others 2023 https://nematodes.be/fr/lutte/lutte-globodera/	Ro1, Ro2/3, Pa2, Pa3
European	ECPD (2023) The European cultivated potato database. European Cooperative Programme for Plant Genetic Resources (ECPGR). <u>https://www.europotato.org/</u>	Ro1, Ro2, Ro3, Ro4, Ro5, Pa1, Pa2, Pa3 (but unknown classification system for resistance)
Finland	Finnish Food Authority (Ruokavirasto) (2022)Peruna-ankeroisen kestäviä perunalajikkeita /Potatissorter som är resistenta motpotatiscystnematoder [Potato varieties resistantagainst potato cyst nematodes] <a href="https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/viljelijat/kasvintuotanto/kasvinterveys/kasvintuhoojat/ankeroise">https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/viljelijat/kasvintuotanto/kasvinterveys/kasvintuhoojat/ankeroise</a> <a href="https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/viljelijat/kasvintuotanto/kasvinterveys/kasvintuhoojat/ankeroise">https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/viljelijat/kasvintuotanto/kasvinterveys/kasvintuhoojat/ankeroise</a>	Ro1, Ro2/3, Ro5, Pa2, Pa3
France	Ministry of Agriculture (2019) http://45.86.205.3/docs/bsv/pommedeterre/listevarie tesnematodes.pdf	Ro1/4 and Pa2/3
Germany	Federal Plant Variety Office (Bundessortenamt)(2022) Beschreibende Sortenliste Kartoffel 2022[Descriptive List of Potato Varieties 2022].Germany.https://www.bundessortenamt.de/bsa/media/Files/BSL/bsl_kartoffel_2022.pdf	Ro1, Ro2/3, Ro5, Pa2, Pa3
Great Britain	Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (2023) Potato Variety Database. <u>https://potatoes.agricrops.org/</u>	<i>G. rostochiensis</i> (Ro1) and <i>G. pallida</i> (Pa1 and Pa2/3 together)
Switzerland	Ruthes, A.C. and Dahlin, P. (2022) The Impact of Management Strategies on the Development and Status of Potato Cyst Nematode Populations in Switzerland: An Overview from 1958 to Present. Plant Disease 2022 106:4, 1096-1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-04-21-0800-SR</u> (Supplementary material)	Ro1, Ro2/3, Ro4, Ro5, Pa1, Pa2, Pa3

T1 NL (1 1 1		
The Netherlands	NVWA (Netherlands Food and Consumer Product	Ro1, Ro2/3, Pa2, Pa3
	Safety Authority) (2023) Lijst van in Nederland	
	beschikbare aardappelrassen met bijbehorende	
	resistentieniveaus voor aardappelmoeheid. [List of	
	potato varieties available in the Netherlands with	
	corresponding resistance levels for potato cyst	
	nematode.]	
	https://www.nvwa.nl/onderwerpen/aardappelmoehei	
	d/documenten/plant/plantziekte-en-	
	plaag/plantziekte/aardappelmoeheid/aardappelmoeh	
	eid-lijst-van-in-nederland-beschikbare-	
	aardappelrassen-met-bijbehorende-	
	resistentieniveaus-voor-aardappelmoeheid	